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I. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Finding 1: PLA’s automated case management system (“ACMS”) and intake procedures
are insufficient to ensure that CSR information is accurately reported and case file
information is accurately and timely recorded.

Finding 2: PLA’s intake procedures and forms are not standardized which has led to
inconsistent intake practices and acceptance policies. As a result, non-complaint cases have
been reported to LSC.

Finding 3: PLA does not maintain the income eligibility documentation required by 45
CFR Part 1611.

Finding 4: PLA does maintain asset eligibility documentation as required by 45 CFR 8§
1611.3(c) and (d), CSR Handbook (2001 Ed.), 1 5.4, and CSR Handbook (2008 Ed.), § 5.4.

Finding 5: PLA is in non-compliance with 45 CFR Part 1626 (Restrictions on legal
assistance to aliens).

Finding 6: PLA is in substantial compliance with the retainer requirements of 45 CFR §
1611.9.

Finding 7: PLA is in compliance with the requirements of 45 CFR Part 1636 (Client
identity and statement of facts).

Finding 8: Sampled cases evidenced compliance with the requirements of 45 CFR § 1620.4
and 8§ 1620.6(c) (Priorities in use of resources).

Finding 9: PLA is in substantial compliance with CSR Handbook (2001 Ed.), 1 5.1 and
CSR Handbook (2008 Ed.), § 5.6 (Description of legal assistance provided).

Finding 10: PLA’s application of the CSR case closure categories is inconsistent with
Section V111, CSR Handbook (2001 Ed.) and Chapters VIII and IX, CSR Handbook (2008
Ed.). At the time of the visit, PLA still utilized expired closing codes.

Finding 11: PLA is not in compliance regarding the requirements of CSR Handbook
(2001 Ed.), 1 3.3 and CSR Handbook (2008 Ed.), § 3.3. (Timely Closing)

Finding 12: Sample cases evidenced compliance with the requirements of CSR Handbook
(2001 Ed.), 1 3.2 and CSR Handbook (2008 Ed.), § 3.2 regarding duplicate cases.

Finding 13: PLA is in compliance with the requirements of 45 CFR Part 1608 (Prohibited
political activities).

Finding 14: Sampled cases evidenced compliance with the requirements of 45 CFR Part
1609 (Fee-generating cases).



Finding 15: PLA is in compliance with 45 CFR § 1610.5 (Written notification of LSC
restrictions to donors).

Finding 16: PLA is in non-compliance with 45 CFR Part 1614’s oversight requirements of
PAI files.

Finding 17: PLA has three sub-grant agreements that were approved for funding for 2009
as required by 45 CFR Part 1627.

Finding 18: PLA is in compliance with 45 CFR Part 1635 (Timekeeping requirement).

Finding 19: Sampled cases evidenced compliance with the requirements of 45 CFR Part
1642 (Attorneys’ fees).

Finding 20: Sampled cases and documents reviewed evidenced compliance with the
requirements of 45 CFR Part 1612 (Restrictions on lobbying and certain other activities).

Finding 21: PLA’s Bank Reconciliations are performed timely and accurately. However,
they are not reviewed timely.

Finding 22: PLA has a Fiscal Procedures Manual (Manual) that is adequately documented
and generally complies with the requirements of the 1997 Accounting Guide for LSC
Recipients (“AGLSCR?).

Finding 23: PLA does not have adequate segregation of duties and internal controls.
Finding 24: PLA does not comply with its salary advance policy.

Finding 25: Sampled cases evidenced compliance with the requirements of 45 CFR Parts
1613 and 1615 (Restrictions on legal assistance with respect to criminal proceedings and

actions collaterally attacking criminal convictions).

Finding 26: Sampled cases evidenced compliance with the requirements of 45 CFR Part
1617 (Class actions).

Finding 27: Sampled cases evidenced compliance with the requirements of 45 CFR Part
1632 (Redistricting).

Finding 28: Sampled cases evidenced compliance with the requirements of 45 CFR Part
1633 (Restriction on representation in certain eviction proceedings).

Finding 29: Sampled cases evidenced compliance with the requirements of 45 CFR Part
1637 (Representation of prisoners).

Finding 30: Sampled cases evidenced compliance with the requirements of 45 CFR Part
1638 (Restriction on solicitation).



Finding 31: Sampled cases evidenced compliance with the requirements of 45 CFR Part
1643 (Restriction on assisted suicide, euthanasia, and mercy Killing).

Finding 32: Sampled cases evidenced compliance with the requirements of certain other
LSC statutory prohibitions (42 USC 2996f § 1007 (a) (8) (Abortion), 42 USC 2996f § 1007
(@) (9) (School desegregation litigation), and 42 USC 2996f § 1007 (a) (10) (Military
selective service act or desertion)).



I1. BACKGROUND OF REVIEW

On September 21-25, 2009, the Legal Services Corporation’s (“LSC”) Office of Compliance and
Enforcement (“OCE”) conducted a Case Service Report/Case Management System
(“CSR/ICMS”) on-site visit at Philadelphia Legal Assistance Center (“PLA”). The purpose of the
visit was to assess the program’s compliance with the LSC Act, regulations, and other applicable
laws. The visit was conducted by a team of two (2) LSC attorneys, one (1) attorney consultant,
and one (1) LSC fiscal analyst.

The on-site review was designed and executed to assess the program’s compliance with basic
client eligibility, intake, case management, regulatory and statutory requirements and to ensure
that PLA has correctly implemented the 2008 CSR Handbook. Specifically, the review team
assessed PLA for compliance with regulatory requirements of 45 CFR Part 1611 (Financial
Eligibility); 45 CFR Part 1626 (Restrictions on legal assistance to aliens); 45 CFR §§ 1620.4 and
1620.6 (Priorities in use of resources); 45 CFR § 1611.9 (Retainer agreements); 45 CFR Part
1636 (Client identity and statement of facts); 45 CFR Part 1608 (Prohibited political activities);
45 CFR Part 1609 (Fee-generating cases); 45 CFR Part 1610 (Use of non-LSC funds, transfers of
LSC funds, program integrity); 45 CFR Part 1614 (Private attorney involvement);" 45 CFR Part
1627 (Subgrants and membership fees or dues); 45 CFR Part 1635 (Timekeeping requirement);
45 CFR Part 1642 (Attorneys’ fees); 45 CFR Part 1630 (Cost standards and procedures); 45 CFR
Part 1612 (Restrictions on lobbying and certain other activities); 45 CFR Parts 1613 and 1615
(Restrictions on legal assistance with respect to criminal proceedings and Restrictions on actions
collaterally attacking criminal convictions); 45 CFR Part 1617 (Class actions); 45 CFR Part 1632
(Redistricting); 45 CFR Part 1633 (Restriction on representation in certain eviction proceedings);
45 CFR Part 1637 (Representation of prisoners); 45 CFR Part 1638 (Restriction on solicitation);
45 CFR Part 1643 (Restriction on assisted suicide, euthanasia, or mercy killing); and 42 USC
2996f § 1007 (Abortion, school desegregation litigation and military selective service act or
desertion).

The OCE team interviewed members of PLA’s upper and middle management, staff attorneys
and support staff. PLA’s case intake, case acceptance, case management, and case closure
practices and policies in all substantive units were assessed. In addition to interviews, a case file
review was conducted. The sample case review period was from January 1, 2007 through July
31, 2009. Case file review relied upon randomly selected files as well as targeted files identified
to test for compliance with LSC requirements, including eligibility, potential duplication, timely
closing, and proper application of case closure categories. In the course of the on-site review,
the OCE team reviewed 313 case files which included 61 targeted files.

PLA is a LSC recipient that operates out of one (1) office. PLA was created in 1995 and began
operating in 1996. PLA was created as result of LSC’s prior recipient Community Legal
Services’ (“CLS”) decision not to accept LSC funds after restrictions were attached to LSC funds
beginning in 1996.% At the time of the OCE visit, PLA received $3,653,055 as LSC Basic Field
and $176,728 for Migrant funding.

! In addition, when reviewing files with pleadings and court decisions, compliance with other regulatory restrictions
was reviewed as more fully reported infra.
% In 2008 PLA and CLS combined their Boards to create a 36 member Board.



PLA’s office is located in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania and utilizes three floors of one building.
The Executive Director, Managing Attorney, family and consumer units are located on the 5
floor. The public benefits unit is located on the 4™ floor with the Private Attorney Involvement
(“PAI”) entities Philadelphia VIP (“VIP”), Homeless Advocacy Project (“HAP”), and the
Consumer Bankruptcy Assistance Project (“CBAP”). The migrant and fiscal units are located on
the 15" floor. Each of the substantive law units conducts intake and closes cases that are
reported to LSC. In addition to staff cases, PLA reports PAI cases in its CSRs. PLA had three
(3) LSC approved sub-grant agreements in 2009; with VIP, CBAP and HAP. LSC eligible cases
closed by VIP and CBAP are reported to LSC as PAI cases.

OCE last conducted a CSR/CMS visit to PLA on June 18-22, 2001. A Final Report was issued
June 3, 2002 in which 13 corrective actions were listed. Several possible violations of program
integrity were noted during the CSR/CMS visit and as a result, a Program Integrity Investigation
(45 CFR Part 1610) was conducted on November 26-30, 2001. A Draft Report was issued in
which 10 corrective actions were listed. PLA submitted comments to the Draft Report but a Final
Report was not issued by LSC.?

Since 2003, PLA has reported, on average, 5,225 closed cases. The highest amount of PLA
cases were reported in 2004 with 6,975 and the lowest amount of cases were reported in 2008
with 3,677. For 2007, PLA reported 4,950 closed cases in its CSR data. PLA’s 2007 self-
inspection report indicated a 4.6% error rate with exceptions noted in 7 files out of the 150 cases
reviewed. The problem areas identified were: one case in which asset information was not
recorded; one case with no written evidence of advice or representation; and five non-telephone
cases which lacked a citizenship attestation or documentation of alien eligibility (and client not
eligible under VAWA 2006 or TVPA-see Program Letters 05-2 or 06-2). According to the 2007
self-inspection, no corrective action was taken regarding the above-cited issues.

For 2008, PLA reported 3,677 closed cases in its CSR data. PLA’s 2008 self-inspection report
indicated a 6.7% error rate with exceptions noted in 11 out of the 150 cases reviewed. The
problem areas identified were: three cases in which asset information was not recorded; one non-
telephone cases which lacked a citizenship attestation or documentation of alien eligibility (and
client not eligible under VAWA 2006 or TVPA-see Program Letters 05-2 or 06-2); six cases in
which there is no written evidence of advice or representation and one case in which the client is
not identified by name. According to the 2008 self-inspection, no corrective action was taken
with respect to the above-cited issues.

By letter dated July 15, 2009, OCE requested that PLA provide a list of all cases reported to LSC
in its 2007 CSR data submission (“closed 2007 cases”), a list of all cases reported in its 2008
CSR data submission (“closed 2008 cases”) a list of all cases closed between January 1, 2009
and July 31, 2009 (“closed 2009 cases”), and a list of all cases which remained open as of July
31, 2009 (“open cases”). OCE requested that the lists contain the client name, the file
identification number, the name of the advocate assigned to the case, the opening and closing
dates, the CSR case closing category assigned to the case and the funding code assigned to the
case. OCE requested that two sets of lists be compiled-one for cases handled by PLA staff and
the other for cases handled through PLA’s PAI component. PLA was advised that OCE would

® PLA’s Executive Director was advised in December 2007 that a Final Report would not be issued by LSC.



seek access to such cases consistent with Section 509(h), Pub.L. 104-134, 110 Stat. 1321 (1996),
LSC Grant Assurance Nos. 10, 11 and 12, and the LSC Access to Records (January 5, 2004)
protocol. PLA was requested to promptly notify OCE, in writing, if it believed that providing
the requested material, in the specified format, would violate the attorney-client privilege or
would be otherwise protected from disclosure.

Thereafter, an effort was made to create a representative sample of cases which the team would
review during the on-site visit. The sample was created proportionately among 2007, 2008, and
2009 closed and 2009 open cases, as well as a proportionate distribution of cases from PLA’s
various units. The sample consisted largely of randomly selected cases, but also included
targeted cases selected to test for compliance with the CSR instructions relative to timely
closings, proper application of the CSR case closing categories, duplicate reporting, etc.

During the visit, access to case-related information was provided through staff intermediaries.
Pursuant to the OCE and PLA agreement signed August 31, 2009, PLA staff maintained
possession of the file and discussed with the team the nature of the client’s legal problem and the
nature of the legal assistance rendered. VIP and CBAP staff also served as intermediaries during
the review of PAI files. In order to maintain confidentiality, such discussion, in some instances,
was limited to a general discussion of the nature of the problem and the nature of the assistance
provided.* PLA’s management and staff cooperated fully in the course of the review process. As
discussed more fully below, PLA was made aware of any compliance issues during the on-site
visit. This was accomplished by informing intermediaries of any compliance issues during case
review as well as PLA’s Managing Attorney and the Executive Director.

In addition, during the current on-site visit, a fiscal review was conducted. The fiscal review
expanded beyond the reporting period of January 1, 2007 — July 31, 2009. The fiscal review
included the reporting period of 2005 — July 31, 2009. PLA was advised in the 2002 Final
Report for the 2001 CSR/CMS visit and in the 2004 Draft Report for the 2001 Program Integrity
Investigation that sub-grant agreements were required for funds expended to PLA’s three PAI
entities-VIP, CBAP and HAP. PLA did not submit sub-grant applications for 2003 — 2007. In
2008, PLA submitted unsuccessful sub-grant applications for the three entities. The applications
were denied because they lacked monetary information and did not meet the requirements set
forth in 45 CFR Part 1627. PLA was also advised that LSC cannot grant retroactive approvals of
sub-grant applications thus the dates of any re-submitted sub-grants needed to be changed. In
November 2008, PLA submitted unsuccessful 2009 sub-grant applications with a proposed start
date of January 1, 2009 and applied again in May 2009. The sub-grant applications submitted in
May 2009 were approved but not for a full year. As explained in the approval letter, LSC cannot
grant retroactive approvals thus, the VIP sub-grant was approved for the period of 8/15/09 -
12/31/09 and the CBAP and HAP sub-grants were approved for the period of 7/1/09 -12/31/009.
PLA was advised in the 2009 sub-grant approval letters that any LSC funds expended by the
VIP, CBAP or HAP prior to the approval of the sub-grant agreements were subject to question
cost proceedings per 45 CFR § 1627.3(a)(3). In addition, the sub-grant approval letters advised
that during the September 2009 CSR/CMS review, OCE would review PLA’s sub-grant funding.

* In those instances where it was evident that the nature of the problem and/or the nature of the assistance provided
had been disclosed to an unprivileged third party, such discussion was more detailed, as necessary to assess
compliance.



On September 29, 2009, after the conclusion of the OCE on-site visit, an exit conference was
conducted via conference call during which PLA was made aware of the areas in which a pattern
of non-compliance was found. PLA was advised that they would receive a Draft Report that
would include all of OCE’s findings and they would have 30 days to submit comments.

OCE cited instances of non-compliance in the areas of intake, case management, income and
asset documentation, execution of citizenship attestations, application of closing codes, and PAI
oversight. Several of the areas noted for non-compliance were also noted previously in the 2002
Final Report. Interviews and the review of case files evidenced that PLA did not take ample
measures to cure the corrective actions cited in the 2002 Final Report. Several of the issues cited
in this Draft Report are due to lack of oversight of staff and PAI files. PLA has been lax in
ensuring that the files reported to LSC are compliant. PLA has not adopted standards and
ongoing procedures for the oversight of case files by unit supervisors as required by the 2002
Final Report. Although the instant on-site review was not designated as a follow-up review of the
2001 CSR/CMS review, it was clear from staff interviews, document review, and case review
that the program continues to have compliance issues due, in part, to its insufficient progress in
implementing at least 6 of the 13 corrective actions required by the 2002 Final Report. It was
also evident that PLA failed to implement corrective actions as its substantive units continue to
operate with great autonomy and utilize different intake and compliance oversight procedures.
There is a lack of communication between units and between management and staff. In addition,
it was clear that PAI files are routinely reported to LSC as cases without key compliance
information in the files. Overall, information gathered on-site evidenced a less than optimal
effort by the program since 2002 to put into practice policies and procedures to bring PLA into
compliance with LSC regulations and requirements.

Consequently, OCE required PLA to submit proof of completed corrective actions in timely
intervals. The corrective actions and the due dates of such corrective actions were cited after
each Finding and in the Required Corrective Actions section of the Draft Report (“DR”). It
should be noted that there are no conclusions on sub-grant agreements for the period 2002
through December 31, 2008. The issue with the use of LSC funds for the operations of VIP,
CBAP, and HAP will be dealt with through a separate process”.

By letter dated January 12, 2010, OCE issued a DR detailing its findings, recommendations, and
required corrective actions. PLA was asked to review the DR and provide written comments.

By email dated April 15, 2010, PLA requested an extension until April 19, 2010 to submit its
comments. By email dated April 19, 2010, PLA submitted its comments to the DR. As required,
PLA has taken several corrective measures in response to the DR, which have been detailed in
their comments to the DR. Furthermore, PLA noted a few exceptions to the Findings. OCE has
carefully considered PLA’s comments and has responded accordingly. PLA’s comments, in
their entirely, are attached to this Final Report.

> Please refer to Finding 17 for further details and explanation.



I11. FINDINGS

Finding 1: PLA’s automated case management system (“ACMS”) and intake procedures
are insufficient to ensure that CSR information is accurately reported and case file
information is accurately and timely recorded.

Recipients are required to utilize ACMS and procedures which will ensure that information
necessary for the effective management of cases is accurately and timely recorded in a case
management system. At a minimum, such systems and procedures must ensure that management
has timely access to accurate information on cases and the capacity to meet funding source
reporting requirements. See CSR Handbook (2001 Ed.), { 3.1 and CSR Handbook (2008 Ed.), §
3.1.

The 2002 Final Report required PLA to remove the zero asset and citizenship defaults in the
ACMS. In the comments to the DR, PLA stated that its computer specialist was re-
programming the Kemps software to remove all defaults and implementing the modified
software by January 1, 2002. During the 2001 visits, PLA utilized Kemps and according to PLA
in January 2008, it upgraded to Prime Sequel Version 8 as its ACMS. During the current visit,
PLA’s ACMS was assessed to determine if it met the requirements of the CSR Handbook (2008
Ed.), § 3.1 and other applicable authority. More specifically, PLA’s ACMS was assessed to
ensure that there was no asset and citizenship eligibility defaults as required by Program Letter
02-06 and the 2002 Final Report. The assessment of the ACMS evidenced that the citizenship
attestation default was removed as required. However, the in-house default in the ACMS leads to
confusion in regard to whether a citizenship attestation is required. (Did the client have a face to
face intake?) PLA was advised that it must remove the in-house intake default to alleviate
confusion regarding citizenship verification requirements.

Although, the citizenship default was removed, the zero asset default still remains an issue for
PLA and OCE discovered an income zero default. PLA was unaware of the income default. As
such, unless there is supporting information in the case notes or on the intake application, cases
that rely on defaulted fields alone for documentation of eligibility are non-compliant. According
to PLA the zero asset default was removed however, when PLA updated to Prime in January
2008, zero defaults were included in the ACMS and check boxes were included in the asset field
for staff to check. PLA staff is required to check the appropriate boxes when an applicant has
zero assets. Also, there is a check box if the applicant receives a government benefit. The check
box indicates that assets were not screened because the applicant receives a government benefit.
However, regardless if a box is checked, the asset columns are defaulted to zero and the total
asset amount is defaulted to zero. A review of the sample case files revealed that the check boxes
are not reliable in determining household assets. PLA staff is not checking the asset and
government benefit check boxes consistently as required by PLA’s policy. If PLA decides to
keep the asset check boxes, staff needs to be trained regarding when the asset check boxes
should be utilized. (This is discussed further in Finding 4).

Selected sampled case files reviewed revealed instances in which the information in PLA’s
ACMS did not match the file information or the information in the one of the PAI entities’



ACMS. Case file review evidenced that inconsistent information included instances in which
dormant or rejected files were reported to LSC; missing files; closed cases with different closing
years, and inconsistent PAI referral information. See case nos. 04E-1 076731; 4608E-10106913;
08E-10106914; 1020246; 08E-10119320; and 09E-10121560. PLA must ensure that the
information in its ACMS matches the information in the case files and the information in the VIP
or CBAP ACMS. Also, PLA must close any open cases that could not be found during the visit
and ensure they are not reported to LSC.

Also, during the current on-site visit, PLA was asked why the CSR totals for the case lists
submitted prior to the visit did not match the CSR totals reported to LSC for the reporting years
of 2007 and 2008. Prior to the visit, PLA was required to submit case lists for cases reported in
2007 and 2008, cases closed in 2009 and cases remaining open. According to the 2007 CSRs,
PLA closed 4,950 LSC reportable cases. According to the case lists submitted, PLA closed
4,886. For 2008, PLA reported 3,695. According to the case lists submitted, PLA closed 4,649
and an on-site test equaled 3,677. PLA was asked to recreate its 2007 and 2008 CSRs. PLA
recreated the query used to generate the CSRs but could not recreate the same numeric outcomes
reported for the years 2007 and 2008. At the time of the visit, PLA was not sure what caused the
discrepancies. PLA is reminded that it should be able to recreate their CSR numbers submitted
to LSC.

A review of the submitted case lists and the review of the case sample revealed that 2008 and
2009 closed cases were closed with expired LSC closing codes. An assessment of PLA’s ACMS
revealed that PLA had not removed the expired closing codes C, E, D and J. The closing codes
were to cease being used as of December 31, 2007 and should have been removed from PLA’s
ACMS. Instead, a notation in red was placed in the ACMS near the defunct closing codes
indicating that the closing code should not be used. However, staff still utilized the closing
codes when closing case files in 2008 and 2009. PLA stated that they were under the impression
that if they removed the closing codes from the ACMS, they would lose all prior years’ data
regarding the defunct closing codes. OCE advised that PLA’s understanding was incorrect and
that prior years’ data could still be obtained. Therefore, the expired closing codes should be
removed as soon as possible so that staff will cease using them.

Based on a comparison of the information yielded by the ACMS to information contained in the
case sample and case lists, PLA’s ACMS is in non-compliance of the requirement to ensure that
information necessary for the effective management of cases is accurately and timely recorded.
There were instances of inconsistent information in the ACMS and the case files, inconsistent
CSR data, eligibility defaults, and closing code errors. PLA must ensure that: the correct
information is entered into the ACMS, cases appear on the appropriate case lists, the information
in PLA’s ACMS matches that of VIP or CBAP, and PLA’s CSR data is preserved for
duplication.

Further, it is clear from the issues of non-compliance and inconsistencies cited above that PLA’s
CSR may not be relied upon as accurate in describing the number of LSC-eligible, CSR-
reportable cases which were undertaken by the program. According to interviews, unit managers
are to review files. Also, one file clerk is responsible for reviewing all program cases, including
the compliance checklist, after case closing. However, the review the clerk performs does not



include all required compliance elements. It is recommended that the program provide the clerk
with additional training regarding LSC requirements and have staff undertake more
comprehensive reviews of all closed cases. This is, however, a significant task for one staff
member and more staff should be tasked to compliance review. Therefore it is highly
recommended that unit managers be trained to become more pro-active in reviewing closed cases
before they are entered in the ACMS

PLA must remove the zero income and asset and in-house defaults to be in compliance with LSC
Handbook (2008 Ed.) and Program letter 02-06. As such, PLA was directed to, within 30 days
of receipt of the Draft Report, forward to OCE a capture of the eligibility screen proving that the
zero defaults have been removed in the income, asset and the total asset fields, and that the in-
house default and the expired closing codes in the ACMS have been removed. PLA was also
directed to submit a revised case file checklist which includes all compliance elements. As
recommended in the 2002 Final Report, LSC is again highly recommending that additional
personnel are hired or cross trained to review cases for compliance.

In response to the DR, PLA addressed the removal of the asset and in-house default but not the
income zero default. However, on January 29, 2010, OCE received a screen capture of PLA’s
ACMS which provides evidence that the asset and income defaults had been removed. However,
PLA asserts in the comments to the DR that the in-house defaults were not originally removed
because it “seems to have little impact on the determination of eligibility and in fact would be an
unreliable source for evaluating the need for documentation of citizenship or alien status.” This
analysis is incorrect and the in-house default should have been removed when the new ACMS
was installed.

In addition, in response to the DR, PLA provided several reasons as to why, the 2007 and 2008
case lists submitted for the on-site review did not coincide with the CSR numbers that were
submitted to LSC for the 2007 and 2008 reporting years. However, PLA’s comments do not
provide a definitive explanation as to why the inconsistent numbers exist but, instead provide the
impression that PLA does not understand the importance of the ability to recreate its CSR
reported totals. PLA is reminded that the 2008 CSR Handbook (2008 Ed.), § 3.4 requires all
LSC recipients to have the capacity to generate a detailed listing of open and closed cases to
support case service information reported to LSC.

Finding 2: PLA’s intake procedures and forms are not standardized which has led to
inconsistent intake practices and acceptance policies. As a result, non-complaint cases have
been reported to LSC.

It is important for all LSC recipient eligibility screeners and intake staff to apply LSC and
program compliance requirements correctly and consistently during intake. This ensures that
LSC’s compliance requirements are met for all applicants and the regulations are applied fairly
to all applicants regardless of who performs the screening. Specific OCE team members were
responsible for interviewing intake staff, reviewing intake forms, and assessing PLA’s case
management system. OCE team members interviewed staff in all of PLA’s offices (including
those individuals who conduct intake for PLA’s special projects) regarding the implementation

10



of PLA’s intake procedures and LSC’s requirements. Intake staff were asked to recite screening
and intake questions, income and asset policies, and intake procedures and to provide forms used
during the screening and intake process. In addition, PLA’s case management system was tested
to ensure compliance. A review of PLA’s intake case acceptance and case management practices
revealed that, at the time of the OCE visit, client information regarding eligibility was not
recorded consistently and accurately as required by 45 CFR Part 1611 and the LSC CSR
Handbook (2008 Ed.).

The 2002 Final Report required PLA to update and document intake, intake oversight, case-
management and case closure procedures; establish standard reviews of open cases, including the
case management database to ensure that cases are timely closed or properly held open; and to
hire or cross train additional personnel to ensure efficient follow-up on file maintenance and case
closing tasks. Case file review and interviews with staff revealed that PLA has not taken
sufficient steps to implement procedures to complete the above mentioned corrective actions.

Presently, and it was PLA’s practice during the OCE 2001 on-site CSR/CMS Review, each of
PLA’s substantive units conduct intake. Staff interviews and review of documentation revealed
inconsistent intake policies, procedures, and forms throughout PLA’s substantive units. In
general, cases are screened and accepted pursuant to individual substantive unit policies and
procedures which vary widely depending on unit. In addition, it was clear that there are varying
levels of supervisory oversight of compliance and legal work depending on unit. Again, both
issues had been raised in 2001 and were subject to corrective actions in the 2002 Final Report.
Further, some areas of the program’s Personnel Manual, which includes compliance policies,
have not been updated since 1996. To the extent that some areas have changed since that time,
the program must revisit its Personnel Manual to ensure it is up-to-date with all LSC regulations
and requirements.

The most significant issues noted reqgarding intake are:

a. The program’s ACMS contains unacceptable defaults in key compliance fields such as
income, assets, and citizenship eligibility. This was discussed in Finding 1.

b. Differing intake policies, procedures, and forms revealed that the program does not uniformly
screen and accept applicants for services. This practice may lead to differing results for the same
applicant depending on which substantive unit is performing intake screening. PLA’s Executive
Director stated that the program has no uniform case acceptance policy and that case acceptance
is based on substantive unit policy.

c. Not all forms include an inquiry regarding an applicant’s assets. PLA must create consistent
and compliant intake policies, procedures, and forms for mandated use throughout the program.
Any additional information required by substantive units may be appended to a uniform intake
form.

d. PLA’s over-income case acceptance policy and procedures require standardization and

training. The program’s policy was not always followed by staff in practice. This is discussed
further in Finding 3.
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e. The program does not inquire as to prospective income as required by 45 CFR § 1611.7(a).
This is discussed further in Finding 3.

f. PLA’s Board must revise its Government Benefits Exemption policy as it is too broad and
does not comply with 45 CFR Part 1611. This is discussed further in Finding 4.

g. PLA utilizes five (5) different citizenship attestations but only one is fully compliant with LSC
requirements. The fully compliant citizenship attestation was developed and is used
independently by the Managing Attorney. This is discussed further in Finding 5.

h. There are no standards for case reviews within the program. Substantive units have differing
procedures to review cases for compliance issues, such as open and untimely case closures. In
addition, substantive units have differing levels of supervision of paralegals for sufficiency of
legal assistance. In some units there is no supervision at all as required by the CSR Handbook
(2008 Ed.). The program must create and enforce standardized procedures throughout the
program for reviewing cases for compliance issues, such as open and untimely case closures.

PLA has not instituted consistent intake procedures and case management procedures to ensure
compliance with the LSC regulations and the CSR Handbook. PLA should institute standardized
citizenship attestations (Finding 5), eligible alien determination forms (Finding 5), and
compliance checklists so that management can be assured that all compliance requirements are
met (Finding 1); develop written standardized program intake policies and procedures that
include a script of eligibility screening questions; and conduct training for staff and supervisors
regarding program-wide policies and compliance requirements.

As such, PLA was required to submit to OCE, within 45 days of receiving the Draft Report,
standardized intake procedures and a standardized intake sheet that all staff members are
required to use. Individuals units can append the form with additional information as needed but
the core eligibility information must be included on all intake forms.

PLA was also directed to submit to OCE, within 30 days of the receipt of the Draft Report, a
copy of its local rules regarding the supervision of paralegals and a copy of program policy
regarding the supervision of paralegals and, within 60 days of receipt of the Draft Report, to
provide a status as to the revision of the compliance section of its Personnel Manual.

In response to the DR, PLA stated that it disagrees with the finding in the DR and asserted that
the distinction between PLA’s substantive units’ eligibility screening and case acceptance
procedures was not made clear during staff interviews. PLA further asserted that PLA uses the
same intake procedures for eligibility screening across substantive units and that case acceptance
is based upon criteria established by each substantive unit based upon the priorities of the unit
and availability of staff. OCE has considered PLA’s comments regarding the DR finding and
has concluded that PLA’s comments do not consider nor negate all of the facts regarding the DR
finding such as the non-compliant intake forms discovered during the on-site visit and the non-
compliant cases that resulted due to PLA’s inconsistent intake procedures. As such, the DR
finding of non-compliance remains.
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In addition, PLA’s revised intake questionnaire form does not screen for assets and a
supplemental asset sheet was not submitted. Therefore, PLA is required to revise its intake sheet
to screen for household assets as well as income.

Finding 3: PLA does not maintain the income eligibility documentation required by 45
CFR Part 1611.

Recipients may provide legal assistance supported with LSC funds only to individuals whom the
recipient has determined to be financially eligible for such assistance. See 45 CFR § 1611.4(a).
Specifically, recipients must establish financial eligibility policies, including annual income
ceilings for individuals and households, and record the number of members in the applicant’s
household and the total income before taxes received by all members of such household in order
to determine an applicant’s eligibility to receive legal assistance.® See 45 CFR § 1611.3(c)(1),
CSR Handbook (2001 Ed.), 1 5.3, and CSR Handbook (2008 Ed.), § 5.3. For each case
reported to LSC, recipients shall document that a determination of client eligibility was made in
accordance with LSC requirements. See CSR Handbook (2001 Ed.), 1 5.2 and CSR Handbook
(2008 Ed.), 8 5.2.

In those instances in which the applicant’s household income before taxes is in excess of 125%
but no more than 200% of the applicable FPG and the recipient provides legal assistance based
on exceptions authorized under 45 CFR § 1611.5(a)(3) and 45 CFR § 1611.5(a)(4), the recipient
shall keep such records as may be necessary to inform LSC of the specific facts and factors
relied on to make such a determination. See 45 CFR § 1611.5(b), CSR Handbook (2001 Ed.), {
5.3, and CSR Handbook (2008 Ed.), § 5.3.

For CSR purposes, individuals financially ineligible for assistance under the LSC Act may not be
regarded as recipient “clients” and any assistance provided should not be reported to LSC. In
addition, recipients should not report cases lacking documentation of an income eligibility
determination to LSC. However, recipients should report all cases in which there has been an
income eligibility determination showing that the client meets LSC eligibility requirements,
regardless of the source(s) of funding supporting the cases, if otherwise eligible and properly
documented. See CSR Handbook (2001 Ed.), 1 4.3(a) and CSR Handbook (2008 Ed.), § 4.3.

The 2002 Final Report required that the income default be removed and that PLA ensure that
clients who are over the standard income level, and are accepted as exceptions, are clearly
documented as exceptions. PLA has established financial eligibility policies, including annual
income ceilings for individuals and households as required by 45 CFR § 1611.3. However, PLA
is not compliant regarding the screening of income eligibility. As stated in Finding 1, PLA has a
zero income default that must be removed. Also, interviews with staff and the assessment of the
ACMS evidenced that PLA does not screen for prospective income as required by 45 CFR Part
1611. The regulation requires that LSC recipients screen for prospective income. LSC’s Office

® A numerical amount must be recorded, even if it is zero. See CSR Handbook (2001 Ed.), 1 5.3 and CSR Handbook
(2008 Ed.), § 5.3.
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of Legal Affairs recently wrote an opinion regarding this issue. It is highly recommended that
PLA review OLA opinion AO-2009-1002.

In addition, a review of the case sample files revealed patterns of non-compliance regarding the
documentation of income. In some instances, there was missing income documentation or
missing exceptions and authorization for the acceptance of over-income applicants. PLA staff is
inconsistent regarding documenting the exceptions considered when accepting over-income
applicants. PLA’s policy requires that intake staff seek the Managing Attorney’s approval when
seeking to accept an over-income applicant. However, staff interviews evidence confusion as to
over-income case acceptance procedures with varying methods applied in the various substantive
units. In some instances PLA’s staff is considering the exceptions but is not seeking the
Managing Attorney approval. For instance, one of PLA's units handles some cases entirely on
the computer and does not produce a paper file. In reviewing these cases it was found that
whenever a client's income exceeded 125% of the FPG but did not exceed 200% there was no 45
CFR 8 1611.5 exceptions listed or Managing Attorney approval as required by PLA’s income
eligibility policy. It should be noted that these cases were not emergencies where action needed
to be taken on them immediately. As such, the program should standardize its over-income case
acceptance procedures and create a uniform, program-wide over-income case acceptance policy.
See case nos. 04E-1077219; 08E-10108368; 09E-10127687; 09-10119932; 09E-10127582; 09E-
10126742; 09-10126606; 08E-10112323; 09E-10120516; 08-10114008; 09E-10123797; 98-
1017548; 07E-7000932; and 07E-1000551.

Lastly, food stamps are listed in the program’s ACMS as income. Although staff indicated that
PLA does not count food stamps as income, case files reviewed evidenced a few instances in
which an applicant’s food stamp value was used to determine household income. See case nos.
04E-1074812 and 03-1060229. PLA should remove the food stamp inquiry from its ACMS.

PLA was required to submit verification to OCE, within 45 days of receipt of the Draft Report,
that staff have been instructed to screen for prospective income and that PLA’s ACMS has been
revised to capture the applicant’s response regarding prospective income. PLA was also directed
to provide the date or future date in which staff will be trained on: how to inquire and document
prospective income; how to document an applicant’s income; and the procedures regarding the
acceptance of over-income clients. PLA was further directed to provide a copy of the training
materials and the attendance sheet (all intake staff and unit managers must attend), once the
training has been conducted.

The DR directed PLA’s Managing Attorney to submit, in writing, to OCE every quarter how
many over-income applicants were accepted in a quarter until further notice is given. The first
quarterly report was to be submitted on or before April 15, 2010.

In response to the DR, PLA stated that PLA’s practices and procedures regarding the
determination of client eligibility is in substantial compliance with LSC requirements as set forth
in 45 CFR Part 1611 and the CSR Handbook (2008 Ed.) Also, PLA’s comments provided
explanations for non-compliance regarding prospective income, inconsistent over-income
procedures, and the documentation of food stamps. However, PLA’s comments did not address
all the issues and factors that attributed to the finding of non-compliance. The DR’s finding of
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non-compliance was based on the factors listed by PLA in its comments as well as the fact that
PLA’s ACMS included a zero income default, and the case sample evidenced case files without
income documentation, 45 CFR Part 1611 exceptions and over-income authorizations as required
by PLA’s eligibility policy. As such the DR’s finding of non-compliance remains.

Finding 4: PLA does not maintain asset eligibility documentation as required by 45 CFR
88 1611.3(c) and (d), CSR Handbook (2001 Ed.), 1 5.4, and CSR Handbook (2008 Ed.), §
5.4.

As part of its financial eligibility policies, recipients are required to establish reasonable asset
ceilings in order to determine an applicant’s eligibility to receive legal assistance. See 45 CFR §
1611.3(d)(1). For each case reported to LSC, recipients must document the total value of assets
except for categories of assets excluded from consideration pursuant to its Board-adopted asset
eligibility policies.” See CSR Handbook (2001 Ed.), { 5.4 and CSR Handbook (2008), § 5.4.

In the event that a recipient authorizes a waiver of the asset ceiling due to the unusual
circumstances of a specific applicant, the recipient shall keep such records as may be necessary
to inform LSC of the reasons relied on to authorize the waiver. See 45 CFR § 1611.3(d)(2).

The revisions to 45 CFR Part 1611 changed the language regarding assets from requiring the
recipient’s governing body to establish, “specific and reasonable asset ceilings, including both
liquid and non-liquid assets,” to “reasonable asset ceilings for individuals and households.” See
45 CFR § 1611.6 in prior version of the regulation and 45 CFR § 1611.3(d)(1) of the revised
regulation. Both versions allow the policy to provide for authority to waive the asset ceilings in
unusual or meritorious circumstances. The older version of the regulation allowed such a waiver
only at the discretion of the Executive Director. The revised version allows the Executive
Director or his/her designee to waive the ceilings in such circumstances. See 45 CFR §
1611.6(e) in prior version of the regulation and 45 CFR § 1611.3(d)(2) in the revised version.
Both versions require that such exceptions be documented and included in the client’s files.

The 2002 Final Report stated that a significant amount of PLA's files evidenced overt problems
with documenting asset eligibility. PLA was required to ensure that its asset policy was being
properly utilized and remove the zero asset default. PLA’s comments to the Draft Report from
the 2001 CSR/CMS stated that there was a disconnection between PLA’s policy and the intake
questions asked by staff. PLA anticipated that eliminating the asset default in conjunction with
further staff training would eliminate the program's difficulty with documenting asset eligibility
in the future. Also, PLA’s self-inspection noted files in which asset documentation was missing.

PLA established Board approved asset ceilings to determine an applicant’s eligibility to receive
legal assistance as required by 45 CFR § 1611.3. However, PLA’s eligibility guidelines are
inconclusive regarding which government benefits are exempt from screening. Although PLA’s
eligibility policy includes a government benefit exemption for asset screening, PLA’s eligibility
policy does not indicate which government benefits PLA’s Board approved as exempt. As a

" A numerical total value must be recorded, even if it is zero or below the recipient’s guidelines. See CSR
Handbook (2001 Ed.), 1 5.4 and CSR Handbook (2008 Ed.), § 5.4.
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result, applicants with different types of benefits were exempted from asset screening. See case
nos. 08E-10106865; 09E-1012047; and 08E-10106310 (VA benefits). PLA’s Board must
stipulate in its Board minutes which government benefits are exempted and certify that the
selected government benefits asset guidelines are the same or below PLA’s.

Sampled case files reviewed revealed that PLA does not maintain asset eligibility documentation
as was required by 45 CFR § 1611.6 and as is required by revised 45 CFR 88 1611.3(c) and (d),
CSR Handbook (2001 Ed.), § 5.4, and CSR Handbook (2008 Ed.) § 5.4.% As stated in Finding 1,
PLA still has asset defaults. PLA must remove all zero asset defaults as required by Program
Letter 02-06 and CSR Handbook (2008 Ed.) § 5.4. Case file review also evidenced that staff is
using different acronyms in the asset fields to indicate that assets were not screened because the
applicant received a government benefit. The acronyms used included NR and NA which is
believed to be “Non-Reportable” and “Non-Applicable”. See case nos. 06E-1090073 and 07E-
1099798. These acronyms were used instead of a typing a numeric value in the asset field or
checking the government benefits check box. However, PLA’s intake procedures do not indicate
that staff should use such acronyms and PLA management was unaware that staff was using the
acronyms. According to PLA’s asset policy and PLA management, staff is to check the
government benefit box if an applicant receives a government benefit.

Also, sample case file review revealed instances in which entries in the asset field consisted of
exempt assets. According to PLA’s policy, exempt assets are not to be documented. See case
nos. 08E-10107645; 07E-1101824; and 09E-10128037. There are no entries explaining why
exempt assets such as personal property and homes were listed.

Further, several case files were found with no asset documentation. Staff did not check boxes or
use acronyms to indicate that the applicant received government benefits. Instead only the
defaulted zeros were present in the ACMS. This is of high concern because several of the files
were reported to LSC and this was an issue during the OCE 2001 CSR/CMS Review. See case
nos. 06E-1 091680; 09E-10125999; 09E-10126427; 08E-10113903; 08-10117353; 09E-1012307;
09E-10126742; 09E-1011944; 09E-10128391; 08E-10107101; 07-1101216; 09E-10128160;
09E-10128037; and 09E-10128014.

Therefore, LSC required PLA to take immediate corrective action. PLA was directed to, within
45 days of receipt of the Draft Report, forward to OCE a copy of the amended eligibility policy
which clearly states which government benefits are exempted from eligibility screening and a
copy of the Board minutes or addendum which certifies that the government benefits listed in
PLA’s policy have asset guidelines that are below or at PLA’s guidelines.

PLA was also directed to submit to OCE, within 30 days of receipt of the Draft Report, intake
guidelines that include guidance regarding asset screening. PLA’s guidelines must clearly define
how assets must be screened and documented, who can approve over asset applicants, and if
exempt assets should be documented.

® The revised 45 CFR § 1611.2 defines assets as meaning cash or other resources of the applicant or members of the
household that are readily convertible to cash, which are currently and actually available to an applicant.
Accordingly, the terms “liquid” and “non-liquid” have been eliminated.
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Lastly, PLA was directed to submit, within 45 days of receipt of the Draft Report, the date on
which staff will receive or has received training regarding asset screening and documentation. In
addition, PLA was ordered to submit the training materials used and a copy of the attendance
sheet. All intake staff and unit managers are required to receive the training and PLA must
certify that such staff has received the required training.

In response to the DR, PLA stated that the practice of documenting a notation as to the
applicability of the asset determination was never eliminated. However, this is contrary to the
statements provided by PLA’s management during the on-site visit. When asked about the series
of notations that were being documented by some staff members, PLA management stated that
they were unaware that staff was still making the notations in the file and that staff was
instructed to check the government exception box instead of making a notation in the file. Also,
when asked PLA management could not explain what “NR” meant. It was assumed it meant
Non-Reportable which could be construed to mean that the case is non-reportable or the assets
are non-reportable. In the comments to the DR, PLA does not address the issue of inconsistency
of the intake staff nor the fact that management was unaware of such inconsistency. As stated in
the DR, due to PLA’s inconsistency, one could not determine if an applicant had been screened
for assets, particularly in instances when the government exemption box was not checked or
when there were no notations in the case file.

Also, in response to the DR, PLA stated that although its policy states that exempt assets are not
to be documented, the fact that some staff still document the exempt assets does not affect an
applicant’s eligibility. However, PLA failed to state that not all intake staff is documenting an
applicant’s exempt assets therefore providing another example of inconsistent intake practices by
PLA’s intake staff.

Due to the facts cited in the DR, and above, the DR’s finding of non-compliance remains.

Finding 5: PLA is in non-compliance with 45 CFR Part 1626 (Restrictions on legal
assistance to aliens).

The level of documentation necessary to evidence citizenship or alien eligibility depends on the
nature of the services provided. With the exception of brief advice or consultation by telephone,
which does not involve continuous representation, LSC regulations require that all applicants for
legal assistance who claim to be citizens execute a written attestation. See 45 CFR § 1626.6.
Aliens seeking representation are required to submit documentation verifying their eligibility.
See 45 CFR 8 1626.7. In those instances involving brief advice and consultation by telephone,
which does not involve continuous representation, LSC has instructed recipients that the
documentation of citizenship/alien eligibility must include a written notation or computer entry
that reflects the applicant’s oral response to the recipient’s inquiry regarding citizenship/alien
eligibility. See CSR Handbook (2001 Ed.), 1 5.5 and CSR Handbook (2008 Ed.), § 5.5; See also,
LSC Program Letter 99-3 (July 14, 1999). In the absence of the foregoing documentation,
assistance rendered may not be reported to LSC. See CSR Handbook (2001 Ed.), 1 5.5 and CSR
Handbook (2008 Ed.), § 5.5.
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Prior to 2006, recipients were permitted to provide non-LSC funded legal assistance to an alien
who had been battered or subjected to extreme cruelty in the United States by a spouse or parent,
or by a member of the spouse’s or parent’s family residing in the same household, or an alien
whose child had been battered or subjected to such cruelty.”  Although non-LSC funded legal
assistance was permitted, such cases could not be included in the recipient’s CSR data
submission. In January 2006, the Kennedy Amendment was expanded and LSC issued Program
Letter 06-2, “Violence Against Women Act 2006 Amendment” (February 21, 2006), which
instructs recipients that they may use LSC funds to provide legal assistance to ineligible aliens,
or their children, who have been battered, subjected to extreme cruelty, is the victims of sexual
assault or trafficking, or who qualify for a “U” visa. LSC recipients are now allowed to include
these cases in their CSRs.

In the 2002 Final Report, it was noted that the computer system had a citizenship default and the
system defaulted to walk-in. Comments to the 2002 Final Report stated that efforts were made to
remove the citizenship default. Also, the 2002 Final Report stated that it was not clear whether
citizenship attestations were routinely asked and recorded by PLA intake staff. PLA did not
make comments regarding this finding. In addition, PLA’s 2007 and 2008 self-inspections
included files noted for missing citizenship attestations or alien eligibility.

As stated in Finding 1, PLA must remove its ACMS in-house default. The default creates
confusion when trying to determine if citizenship/alien documentation is required. Also, PLA
does not document eligible alien information during phone intake as required by Program Letter
99-3. Staff currently only document if the applicant is a citizen or legal alien. PLA must revise
its phone intake procedures and its ACMS to capture the oral response regarding citizenship or
alien eligibility. PLA must either document in its ACMS case notes or create a field that
documents the applicant’s oral response regarding the type of documentation they posses to
prove eligibility.

Review of PLA’s intake forms and staff interviews evidenced that PLA staff utilizes at least five
(5) citizen attestations and only one (1) is compliant. The General Intake Unit citizenship
attestation form is defective as is the Migrant Unit citizenship form, the Family Unit citizenship
form, and the CLS citizenship form which is forwarded to PLA for referrals. All allow an
eligible alien to attest to alien eligibility which is non-compliant. The only compliant citizenship
attestation is being utilized by PLA’s Managing Attorney, the creator of the form. Between the
defective citizenship attestations in use throughout the program and the “in-house” default, PLA
could conceivably be non-compliant with 45 CFR Part 1626 for all of its cases except for those
by the Managing Attorney. The program must implement use of a uniform and compliant
citizenship attestation for use program-wide.

Although no patterns of non-compliance were found in obtaining citizenship attestations, a few
staff files were reviewed with missing citizenship attestations. See case nos. 07-1102266; 97-
1001465; 08E-10111034; 09-10127260; 08-10108749; and 00-1033698.

However, due to lack of communication and inadequate office procedures PAI files were
reported without citizenship attestations. This is due in large part because of the current PAI

° See Kennedy Amendment at 45 CFR § 1626.4.
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referral system and PLA’s lack of oversight of PAI files. Currently, phone intake files referred
to VIP or CBAP do not include citizenship or alien documentation. At the time of the visit,
neither VIP nor CBAP screened clients regarding their citizenship status. Consequently, several
phone intake PAI referral cases were closed without a citizenship attestation or alien
documentation as required by 45 CFR Part 1626. This resulted in non-compliant cases being
reported to LSC. This is due in part because PLA does not conduct routine oversight of VIP or
CBAP cases. See case nos. 02E-1055357; 07E-1098725; and 07E-1103095. This will be
discussed further in Finding 16.

PLA must remove the in-house default in its ACMS; have staff use one standardized citizenship
attestation form; review all open and closed PAI files to ensure that a citizenship attestation or
alien documentation is in the file; review staff files prior to closing to ensure that a citizenship
attestation or alien documentation is in the file; and require VIP and CBAP to screen for
citizenship status.

PLA must ensure that all forms used are compliant with 45 CFR Part 1626 and the CSR
Handbook (2008 Ed.). As such, PLA was directed to submit to OCE, within 30 days of the
receipt of the Draft Report, a copy of all citizenship attestations utilized by the program and
verification, as stated in Finding 1, that the in-house default has been removed.

In addition, PLA was directed to submit to OCE, within 45 days of receipt of the Draft Report, a
copy of the revised intake procedures which require staff to document the response of an eligible
alien applicant as required by Program Letter 99-3. PLA was also directed to provide the date on
which staff was or will be trained and what instructions staff was given as to how to document
the response. PLA was advised that all intake staff and unit managers must attend the training
and was further directed to submit a copy of training materials and the attendance sheet.

In response to the DR, PLA stated that since the OCE visit, PLA has modified its intake
procedures to ensure that an eligible alien’s status is not only verified orally, but recorded in the
case notes through the use of a canned note or individual entry. PLA also stated that it has
revised its citizenship attestation to be in compliance with the CSR Handbook’s (2008 Ed.)
requirements.

Finding 6: PLA is in substantial compliance with the retainer requirements of 45 CFR §
1611.9.

Pursuant to 45 CFR 8 1611.9, recipients are required to execute a retainer agreement with each
client who receives extended legal services from the recipient. The retainer agreement must be in
a form consistent with the applicable rules of professional responsibility and prevailing practices
in the recipient’s service area and shall include, at a minimum, a statement identifying the legal
problem for which representation is sought, and the nature of the legal service to be provided.
See 45 CFR § 1611.9(a).

The retainer agreement is to be executed when representation commences or as soon thereafter is
practical and a copy is to be retained by the recipient. See 45 CFR 88 1611.9(a) and (c). The
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lack of a retainer does not preclude CSR reporting eligibility.’® Cases without a retainer, if
otherwise eligible and properly documented, should be reported to LSC.

A uniform retainer agreement is used by PLA. The sample case files reviewed revealed that
PLA is in compliance with the requirements of 45 CFR 8 1611.9. Only a few case sample files
did not include a retainer agreement when required. See case nos. 05E-1082064; 96-011770; 97-
1001465; 09E-10125481; and 09-10123133.

There are no recommendations or corrective actions required.

Finding 7: PLA is in compliance with the requirements of 45 CFR Part 1636 (Client
identity and statement of facts).

LSC regulations require that recipients identify by name each plaintiff it represents in any
complaint it files, or in a separate notice provided to the defendant, and identify each plaintiff it
represents to prospective defendants in pre-litigation settlement negotiations. In addition, the
regulations require that recipients prepare a dated, written statement signed by each plaintiff it
represents, enumerating the particular facts supporting the complaint. See 45 CFR 8§ 1636.2(a)
(1) and (2).

The statement is not required in every case. It is required only when a recipient files a complaint
in a court of law or otherwise initiates or participates in litigation against a defendant, or when a

recipient engages in pre-complaint settlement negotiations with a prospective defendant. See 45

CFR §1636.2(a).

The sample case files reviewed demonstrated that PLA is in compliance with the requirements of
45 CFR Part 1636. All case sample files reviewed included a statement of fact or verified
compliant when required.

There are no recommendations or corrective actions required.

Finding 8: Sampled cases evidenced compliance with the requirements of 45 CFR § 1620.4
and 8§ 1620.6(c) (Priorities in use of resources).

LSC regulations require that recipients adopt a written statement of priorities that determines the
cases which may be undertaken by the recipient, regardless of the funding source. See 45 CFR §
1620.3(a). Except in an emergency, recipients may not undertake cases outside its priorities.
See 45 CFR 8 1620.6.

PLA is in compliance with 45 CFR Part 1620. None of the 2007, 2008, and 2009 sampled files
reviewed evidenced cases that were outside of PLA’s priorities.

19 However, a retainer is more than a regulatory requirement. It is also a key document clarifying the expectations
and obligations of both client and program, thus assisting in a recipient’s risk management.
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There are no recommendations or corrective actions required.

Finding 9: PLA is in substantial compliance with CSR Handbook (2001 Ed.), 5.1 and
CSR Handbook (2008 Ed.), § 5.6 (Description of legal assistance provided).

LSC regulations specifically define “case” as a form of program service in which the recipient
provides legal assistance. See 45 CFR 88 1620.2(a) and 1635.2(a). Consequently, whether the
assistance that a recipient provides to an applicant is a “case”, reportable in the

CSR data depends, to some extent on whether the case is within the recipient’s priorities and
whether the recipient has provided some level of legal assistance, limited or otherwise.

If the applicant’s legal problem is outside the recipient’s priorities, or if the recipient has not
provided any type of legal assistance, it should not report the activity in its CSR. For example,
recipients may not report the mere referral of an eligible client as a case when the referral is the
only form of assistance that the applicant receives from the recipient. See CSR Handbook (2001
Ed.), 1 7.2 and CSR Handbook (2008 Ed.), § 7.2.

Recipients are instructed to record client and case information, either through notations on an
intake sheet or other hard-copy document in a case file, or through electronic entries in an
ACMS database, or through other appropriate means. For each case reported to LSC such
information shall, at a minimum, describe, inter alia, the level of service provided. See CSR
Handbook (2001 Ed.), 1 5.1(c) and CSR Handbook (2008 Ed.), § 5.6.

The 2002 Final Report stated that several case files lacked legal advice including PAI cases.
Comments to the DR stated that the cases would be removed during the end of the year review
by the Executive Director. Also, the comments stated that PLA would work with VIP and HBAP
to ensure proper closing codes and documentation of legal advice. In addition, PLA’s 2008 self-
inspection noted cases for lack of evidence of legal assistance.

A review of the case sample revealed that PLA is in compliance with CSR Handbook (2001 Ed.),
15.1(c) and CSR Handbook (2008 Ed.), 8 5.6 as there were only few case sample files that did
not include documentation of legal advice. See case nos. 07E-1104091; 07E-110528213; O4E-
1074812; 08E-10109025; 09E-10119966; 09E-10123005; 08E-1011406; and 09E-10127525.
These cases and other like them are not CSR-reportable.

During case file review, VIP staff was advised that when a referred client does not show up to
the PAI attorney appointment, VIP can send advice letters if client has not rescinded
representation. Also, PLA management was advised in instances in which there is no advice
given by a private attorney if PLA staff provided advice prior to referring the case, the file can be
closed as a staff case.

There are no recommendations or corrective actions required.
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Finding 10: PLA’s application of the CSR case closure categories is inconsistent with
Section V111, CSR Handbook (2001 Ed.) and Chapters VIII and IX, CSR Handbook (2008
Ed.). At the time of the visit, PLA still utilized expired closing codes.

The CSR Handbook defines the categories of case service and provides guidance to recipients on
the use of the closing codes in particular situations. Recipients are instructed to report each case
according to the type of case service that best reflects the level of legal assistance provided. See
CSR Handbook (2001 Ed.), 1 6.1 and CSR Handbook (2008 Ed.), § 6.1.

The 2002 Final Report stated that files were found with incorrect closing codes. PLA was
required to ensure that all cases evidence legal services provided and that the documentation in
the file supports the closing code assigned. Comments to the DR stated that PLA staff would
receive training regarding closing codes.

During the current on-site visit, interviews with the staff and management of PLA, VIP and
CBAP verified that in 2007 training was provided regarding the 2008 CSR Handbook and the
LSC closing codes. However, a review of case sample files evidenced that PAI and PLA staff
files were closed with incorrect closing codes and expired closing codes in 2008 and 2009. Also,
as stated in Finding 1, an assessment of the ACMS revealed that the expired closing codes are
still in the system, although it states in red lettering “do not use”, the expired closing codes are
still being utilized..

The PALI entity CBAP has an X closing code for rejected cases. However, VIP does not have a
closing code for rejected files and has instead been incorrectly utilizing the LSC closing code K.
PLA was unaware that VIP was utilizing the closing code K incorrectly. Consequently, rejected
files were reported to LSC. Also, interviews with the VIP staff revealed that the staff was unsure
of how to apply closing codes and were still utilizing expired closing codes C and E. The VIP
staff was also not aware of when to use closing code L and how to apply the sub- categories of
closing code 1. VIP staff was given instructions on how to apply the LSC closing codes and it
was recommended that VIP create an X closing code for rejected cases. See case nos. 07E-
1099798, 08E-1087637; 08E-1 0 116661; and 08E-1 011936S.

In addition to PAI cases, a review of staff case files demonstrated that PLA’s application of the
CSR case closing categories is inconsistent with Section VIII, CSR Handbook (2001 Ed.) and
Chapters VIII and IX, CSR Handbook (2008 Ed.). There were several CSR reported case files
that were noted for closing code errors. The PLA case lists and case file review evidenced: that
staff utilized expired closing codes C, D, E, and J in 2008 and 2009; incorrect application of
closing code L; and case files closed as a court decision failed to have a sub-category as outlined
in CSR Handbook (2008 Ed.) § 6.1. See case nos. 08E-10110007; 04-1071748; 07-1105347,;
06-1095734; 08E-10112731; 08-10113441; 09E-10124031; 09E-10122609; and 08E-10112117.

Since the incorrect application of LSC closing codes was a finding in the 2002 Final Report and
several staff and PAI files were found with incorrect closing codes during this visit, LSC is
requiring PLA to take immediate corrective actions regarding this issue. The first is that
corrective actions must be taken regarding the oversight of PAI files and providing closing code
training to the PAI entities. This will be discussed at length in Finding 16.
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Regarding PLA staff, PLA management must ensure that PLA staff is applying closing codes
correctly and has a good understanding of the closing codes. Therefore, PLA was directed to,
within 45 days of the receipt of the Draft Report, submit to OCE the date PLA staff was trained
or will be trained regarding the LSC closing codes. PLA was also directed to submit the training
materials used and a copy of the attendance sheet. All staff advocates and paralegals must be
provided the training. PLA was directed to submit an internal policy which sets forth who will
be in charge of checking staff files prior to closing; the policy must state how frequently the
closed files will be checked and who will check them.

PLA was directed to submit, until further notice is given, quarterly certifications documenting
when closed files are reviewed. The certification must include: the date of the review; who
conducted the review; how many case files were reviewed; how many were closed as LSC
reportable; and how many were closed as non-reportable. The first certification was due on or
before April 15, 2010.

In addition, PLA was directed submit to OCE, on or before February 1, 2010, the date on which
all staff and PAI cases that were closed in 2009 with an I only closing code were reviewed and
given a correct closing code of la or Ib as required by the CSR Handbook (2008 Ed.) and to
certify that all staff cases closed in 2009 with an expired closing code were reviewed and either
rejected or given a correct closing code. Also, PLA was directed to review all 2009 PAI cases
closed as K, ensure the case is LSC reportable and given a new LSC closing code when
applicable or rejected. PLA was directed to certify as to how many cases were reviewed and
how many were LSC reportable.

In response to the DR, PLA asserted that OCE’s finding is misleading and a distinction must be
drawn between the support for the OCE’s finding in 2001 and that found as result of the recent
review. PLA stated that since the 2001 OCE visit, PLA has received subsequent training from
OCE regarding closing codes and the application of the closing codes had become more
consistent. PLA further implied that the recent finding of non-compliance is due to PLA
continued use of closing codes that became obsolete when the CSR Handbook (2008 Ed.)
became effective January 1, 2008. PLA stated that the error of using obsolete closing codes
created only a minimal over-counting of cases.

PLA’s implications regarding this finding are incorrect. The finding of non-compliance was not
solely based on PLA and its sub-grantees’ incorrect use of obsolete closing codes but also, due to
PLA’s current incorrect application of closing codes. It should be noted that the report period for
this visit included 2007 closed files. Also, the fact that PLA staff had training regarding the CSR
Handbook (2001 Ed.) has no bearing due to the fact that according to PLA’s management, staff
received training regarding the revised CSR Handbook prior to its launch date of January 1,
2008. However, the case sample review evidenced several closed 2008 and 2009 with incorrect
closing codes. Also, as stated in the DR, PLA reported rejected VIP cases due to PLA’s failure
to realize that VIP was incorrectly closing rejected cases with the reportable CSR closing code
K. The case sample review and interviews with staff did not evidence that PLA’s application of
closing codes at any time had become compliant. As such, the DR’s finding of non-compliance
remains.
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Finding 11: PLA is not in compliance regarding the requirements of CSR Handbook
(2001 Ed.), 1 3.3 and CSR Handbook (2008 Ed.), § 3.3. (Timely Closing)

To the extent practicable, programs shall report cases as having been closed in the year in which
assistance ceased, depending on case type. Cases in which the only assistance provided is
counsel and advice, brief service, or a referred after legal assessment (CSR Categories, A, B, and
C), should be reported as having been closed in the year in which the counsel and advice, brief
service, or referral was provided. See CSR Handbook (2001 Ed.),  3.3(a).** There is, however,
an exception for cases opened after September 30, and those cases containing a determination to
hold the file open because further assistance is likely. See CSR Handbook (2001 Ed.), 1 3.3(a)
and CSR Handbook (2008 Ed.), § 3.3(a). All other cases (CSR Categories D through K, 2001
CSR Handbook and F through L, 2008 CSR Handbook) should be reported as having been
closed in the year in which the recipient determines that further legal assistance is unnecessary,
not possible or inadvisable, and a closing memorandum or other case-closing notation is
prepared. See CSR Handbook (2001 Ed.), { 3.3(b) and CSR Handbook (2008 Ed.), § 3.3(b).
Additionally LSC regulations require that systems designed to provide direct services to eligible
clients by private attorneys must include, among other things, case oversight to ensure timely
disposition of the cases. See 45 CFR § 1614.3(d)(3).

The 2002 Final Report stated that there were several files that were closed untimely especially in
the Family Law Unit and the CASC student program. PLA was required to establish standard
reviews of open cases, including the case management database, to ensure that cases are timely
closed or properly held open. The 2002 Final Report also indicated that PLA should hire and/or
cross train additional personnel to ensure efficient follow-up on file maintenance and case
closing tracks. PLA did not make comments to this finding in its response to the 2001 Draft
Report.

PLA is not in compliance regarding the requirements of CSR Handbook (2001 Ed.), § 3.3 and
CSR Handbook (2008 Ed.), § 3.3(a). Per the instructions of the 2002 Final Report, PLA was to
review its open case list and purge all of the dormant files. During the current visit, the case list
submitted prior to the visit listed over 3,000 open cases as of July 15, 2009. The Executive
Director stated that staff is given one day a quarter to review open cases and close files.
However, interviews with staff revealed that staff does not adhere to the policy. Since there is no
review of files, OCE is concerned that the open files may subject PLA to malpractice due to
untimely assistance to clients. Also, the lack of oversight of PAI files which will be discussed in
Finding 16 is a contributory factor to dormant and untimely file closings.

The case sample file review evidenced several staff and PAI files that were dormant or untimely
closed. See case nos. 07E-1099132; 05E-1084924; 99-1027364; 06-1094185; 04-1071748, 06-
1095734; 08E-10108403; 08E-10112323; 06E-1095982; 96-011765; 08E-10112323; 07E-

1 The time limitation of the 2001 Handbook that a brief service case should be closed “as a result of an action taken
at or within a few days or weeks of intake” has been eliminated. However, cases closed as limited action are subject
to the time limitation on case closure found in CSR Handbook (2008 Ed.), § 3.3(a). This category is intended to be
used for the preparation of relatively simple or routine documents and relatively brief interactions with other parties.
More complex and/or extensive cases that would otherwise be closed in this category should be closed in the new
CSR Closure Category “L” (Extensive Service).
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1102341; 00-1033742; 04-1073359; and 98-1011905. PLA is reminded that untimely closed and
dormant cases are not reportable and should not be included in the CSRs. These files should be
given a closing code X to ensure that they are never reported to LSC.

Due to the above-cited issues, PLA was directed to, within 45 days of receipt of the Draft Report,
submit a certification to OCE detailing the date that each PLA advocate was provided an open
2009 case list; the date(s) the open case lists were reviewed; the date the dormant cases were
closed (PLA is reminded that cases cannot be backed dated); the number of reportable cases
closed; the number of non-reportable cases closed, and the remaining number of cases open.

Also, PLA is now required to submit to OCE quarterly reports detailing the above-mentioned
information until given further notice. The first report regarding the 2009 open case lists was to
be submitted no later than February 10, 2010. The second was due April 15, 2010. PLA was
further directed to submit in writing, within 45 days of receipt of the Draft Report, a copy of the
PLA policy which requires staff to review open case lists on a quarterly basis.

In response to the DR, PLA stated that PLA monitors the timeliness of case closings through a
variety of methods and that staff was provided training subsequent to the OCE visit. The
methods cited by PLA are the same as those cited to LSC during the on-site review. However, as
stated in the DR, interviews with staff and case file review revealed that PLA staff did not
conduct such methods thus several untimely closed case files were found. However, PLA has
submitted quarterly certificates as required by the DR’s corrective actions certifying that open
case list are being reviewed by staff.

Finding 12: Sample cases evidenced compliance with the requirements of CSR Handbook
(2001 Ed.), 1 3.2 and CSR Handbook (2008 Ed.), § 3.2 regarding duplicate cases.

Through the use of automated case management systems and procedures, recipients are required
to ensure that cases involving the same client and specific legal problem are not recorded and
reported to LSC more than once. See CSR Handbook (2001 Ed.), 1 3.2 and CSR Handbook
(2008 Ed.), 8 3.2.

When a recipient provides more than one type of assistance to the same client during the same
reporting period, in an effort to resolve essentially the same legal problem, as demonstrated by
the factual circumstances giving rise to the problem, the recipient may report only the highest
level of legal assistance provided. See CSR Handbook (2001 Ed.), 6.2 and CSR Handbook
(2008 Ed.), § 6.2.

When a recipient provides assistance more than once within the same reporting period to the
same client who has returned with essentially the same legal problem, as demonstrated by the
factual circumstances giving rise to the problem, the recipient is instructed to report the repeated
instances of assistance as a single case. See CSR Handbook (2001 Ed.), § 6.3 and CSR
Handbook (2008 Ed.), 8 6.3. Recipients are further instructed that related legal problems
presented by the same client are to be reported as a single case. See CSR Handbook (2001 Ed.),
1 6.4 and CSR Handbook (2008 Ed.), § 6.4.
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PLA is in compliance with the requirements of CSR Handbook (2001 Ed.), 1 3.2 and CSR
Handbook (2008 Ed.), 8§ 3.2 regarding duplicate cases. The team leader targeted files for
possible duplication. Of the targeted files, one set of duplicate files was found in the 2008 case
sample. See case no. 06E-1093967, case file was incorrectly closed and reported to LSC. The
file was closed because a new PAI attorney was assigned as counsel for the case. VIP was
advised that an entry should be included in the case notes of the closed file advising that a new
case number has been opened. The open case file’s case notes should make a reference to this
case and advised that once the case is closed it should not be reported to LSC since it was
reported in 2008.

There are no recommendations or corrective actions required.

Finding 13: PLA is in compliance with the requirements of 45 CFR Part 1608 (Prohibited
political activities).

LSC regulations prohibit recipients from expending grants funds or contributing personnel or
equipment to any political party or association, the campaign of any candidate for public or party
office, and/or for use in advocating or opposing any ballot measure, initiative, or referendum.
See 45 CFR Part 1608.

The limited review of accounting records and documentation for the period January 2008
through August 2009 and interviews with staff disclosed that PLA does not appear to have
expended any grant funds, or used personnel or equipment in prohibited activities in violation of
45 CFR § 1608.3(b).

There are no recommendations or corrective actions required.

Finding 14: Sampled cases evidenced compliance with the requirements of 45 CFR Part
1609 (Fee-generating cases).

Except as provided by LSC regulations, recipients may not provide legal assistance in any case
which, if undertaken on behalf of an eligible client by an attorney in private practice, reasonably
might be expected to result in a fee for legal services from an award to the client, from public
funds or from the opposing party. See 45 CFR 88 1609.2(a) and 1609.3.

Recipients may provide legal assistance in such cases where the case has been rejected by the
local lawyer referral service, or two private attorneys; neither the referral service nor two private
attorneys will consider the case without payment of a consultation fee; the client is seeking,
Social Security, or Supplemental Security Income benefits; the recipient, after consultation with
the private bar, has determined that the type of case is one that private attorneys in the area
ordinarily do not accept, or do not accept without pre-payment of a fee; the Executive Director
has determined that referral is not possible either because documented attempts to refer similar
cases in the past have been futile, emergency circumstances compel immediate action, or
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recovery of damages is not the principal object of the client’s case and substantial attorneys’ fees
are not likely. See 45 CFR 88§ 1609.3(a) and 1609.3(b).

PLA is in compliance with 45 CFR § 1609.4, which requires that each recipient shall adopt
written policies and procedures to guide its staff in complying with 45 CFR Part 1609 and shall
maintain records sufficient to document the recipient's compliance with this part. None of the
sampled files reviewed involved legal assistance with respect to a fee-generating case.

Discussions with the Executive Director also confirmed that PLA is not involved in any fee-
generating cases.

There are no recommendations or corrective actions required.

Finding 15: PLA is in compliance with 45 CFR § 1610.5 (Written notification of LSC
restrictions to donors).

Part 1610 was adopted to implement Congressional restrictions on the use of non-LSC funds and
to assure that no LSC funded entity engage in restricted activities. Essentially, recipients may
not themselves engage in restricted activities, transfer LSC funds to organizations that engage in
restricted activities, or use its resources to subsidize the restricted activities of another
organization.

The regulations contain a list of restricted activities. See 45 CFR § 1610.2. They include
lobbying, participation in class actions, representation of prisoners, legal assistance to aliens,
drug related evictions, and the restrictions on claiming, collecting or retaining attorneys' fees.

Recipients are instructed to maintain objective integrity and independence from any organization
that engages in restricted activities. In determining objective integrity and independence, LSC
looks to determine whether the other organization receives a transfer of LSC funds, and whether
such funds subsidize restricted activities, and whether the recipient is legally, physically, and
financially separate from such organization.

Whether sufficient physical and financial separation exists is determined on a case by case basis
and is based on the totality of the circumstances. In making the determination, a variety of
factors must be considered. The presence or absence of any one or more factors is not
determinative. Factors relevant to the determination include:

i) the existence of separate personnel;

i) the existence of separate accounting and timekeeping records;

iii) the degree of separation from facilities in which restricted activities occur,
and the extent of such restricted activities; and

iv) the extent to which signs and other forms of identification distinguish the
recipient from the other organization.
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See 45 CFR 8§ 1610.8(a); see also, OPO Memo to All LSC Program Directors, Board Chairs
(October 30, 1997).

Recipients are further instructed to exercise caution in sharing space, equipment and facilities
with organizations that engage in restricted activities. Particularly if the recipient and the other
organization employ any of the same personnel or use any of the same facilities that are
accessible to clients or the public. But, as noted previously, standing alone, being housed in the
same building, sharing a library or other common space inaccessible to clients or the public may
be permissible as long as there is appropriate signage, separate entrances, and other forms of
identification distinguishing the recipient from the other organization, and no LSC funds
subsidize restricted activity. Organizational names, building signs, telephone numbers, and other
forms of identification should clearly distinguish the recipient from any organization that
engages in restricted activities. See OPO Memo to All LSC Program Directors, Board Chairs
(October 30, 1997).

While there is no per se bar against shared personnel, generally speaking, the more shared staff,
or the greater their responsibilities, the greater the likelihood that program integrity will be
compromised. Recipients are instructed to develop systems to ensure that no staff person
engages in restricted activities while on duty for the recipient, or identifies the recipient with any
restricted activity. See OPO Memo to All LSC Program Directors, Board Chairs (October 30,
1997).

45 CFR § 1610.5 requires that LSC recipients do not accept funds from any source other than the
LSC, unless the recipient provides to the source of the funds written notification of the
prohibitions and conditions which apply to the funds. A recipient is not required to provide such
notification for receipt of contributions of less than $250. The review of PLA’s donor letters
sent to contributors evidenced compliance with the requirements of 45 CFR § 1610.5. The
letters notified the donors the prohibitions and conditions which apply to the funds as required by
45 CFR § 1610.5.

In addition, as stated previously, due to the observations of the OCE team during the 2001
CSR/CMS visit, a Program Integrity Investigation was conducted in November 2001. At the
time of both visits, PLA was sharing office space with CLS and the three PAI entities without
sufficient physical and fiscal independence as required by 45 CFR Part 1610. Several corrective
actions were given to PLA in the CSR/CMS Final Report and the Program Integrity Investigation
Draft Report.*

During the current OCE visit, a general observation of PLA’s office space and arrangement with
the entities, VIP, CBAP and HAP evidenced that CLS is no longer in the same building as PLA.
However, the three aforementioned entities are located in the same space occupied by PLA and
share office space with PLA’s Public Benefits Unit. This appears problematic. However, due to
lack of time on-site to devote to this matter, it could not be thoroughly reviewed. LSC will need
to conduct a Program Integrity Review of PLA to conclude this matter and any others if
applicable.

12 As stated in the Background of this report a Final Report was not issued for the Program Integrity visit.

28



There are no recommendations or corrective actions required.

Finding 16: PLA is in non-compliance with 45 CFR Part 1614 oversight requirements of
PAI files.

LSC regulations require LSC recipients to devote an amount of LSC and/or non-LSC funds equal
to 12.5% of its LSC annualized basic field award for the involvement of private attorneys in the
delivery of legal assistance to eligible clients. This requirement is referred to as the "PAI" or
private attorney involvement requirement.

Activities undertaken by the recipient to involve private attorneys in the delivery of legal
assistance to eligible clients must include the direct delivery of legal assistance to eligible clients.
The regulation contemplates a range of activities, and recipients are encouraged to assure that the
market value of PALI activities substantially exceed the direct and indirect costs allocated to the
PAI requirement. The precise activities undertaken by the recipient to ensure private attorney
involvement are, however, to be determined by the recipient, taking into account certain factors.
See 45 CFR 88 1614.3(a), (b), (c), and (e)(3). The regulations, at 45 CFR § 1614.3(e)(2), require
that the support and expenses relating to the PAI effort must be reported separately in the
recipient’s year-end audit. The term “private attorney” is defined as an attorney who is not a
staff attorney. See 45 CFR § 1614.1(d). Further, 45 CFR § 1614.3(d)(3) requires programs to
implement case oversight and follow-up procedures to ensure the timely disposition of cases to
achieve, if possible, the results desired by the client and the efficient and economical utilization
of resources.

PLA meets its PAI 12.5% requirement through its contributions to VIP, CBAP and HAP. The
Audited Financial Statement (“AFS”) for Fiscal Year (“FY”) Ending December 31, 2008 did
report separate expenditures dedicated to the PAI effort, as required by 45 CFR § 614.3(e)(2).
PLA reported total PAI expenditures of $390,019 for 2008 which translates to 13.1% of the total
basic field grant ($2,974,346). PLA allocates attorneys and paralegals direct time associated
with PAI activities, and costs calculated based on base salary divided by their annual workable
hours, as required by 45 CFR 8 1614.3(e)(1)(i). Several costs were reviewed and were found to
be allocated and calculated correctly. Indirect costs were tested and found to be allocated on the
basis of reasonable operating data.

The review of the 2008 AFS for the three entities through which PLA discharges its PAI effort,
CBAP, VIP, and HAP, indicate that PLA provided the three entities with a total of $414,269
which is reported by the entities as in kind contributions. However, PLA’s 2008 AFS indicated
that it provided these three entities a total of $390,019 in in-kind contributions thus, there i